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STATE OF FLORIDA 

DIVISION OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

 

VENUS HARRIS, 

     Petitioner, 

vs. 

ADVANCE AMERICA CASH ADVANCE 

CENTER, INC., 

 Respondent. 

                                

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

) 

 

 

Case No. 10-7922 

 

RECOMMENDED ORDER 

 

 Pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was held in this case 

on October 18, 2010, in Tallahassee, Florida, before W. David 

Watkins, the duly-designated Administrative Law Judge of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings. 

APPEARANCES 

 

For Petitioner:  Venus P. Harris, pro se  

                      3921 Mission Road, Apartment 5  

                      Tallahassee, Florida  32303 

 

     For Respondent:  Douglas Anspach, Esquire 

                      Taft, Stettinius and Hollister, LLP 

                      110 North Main Street, Suite 900 

                      Dayton, Ohio  45402 

 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

 The issue is whether Respondent engaged in an unlawful 

employment practice pursuant to Chapter 760, Florida Statutes, 

by refusing to hire Petitioner due to her pregnancy. 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 Petitioner filed a Complaint of Discrimination with the 

Florida Commission on Human Relations (Commission) on 

February 26, 2010.  The Commission entered a Notice of 

Determination: No Cause on or about August 4, 2010.  Petitioner 

then filed a Petition for Relief.  The Petition was forwarded to 

the Division of Administrative Hearings on August 18, 2010, for 

assignment of an Administrative Law Judge to conduct a formal 

hearing.  A Notice of Hearing was issued on August 31, 2010, 

scheduling the final hearing for October 18, 2010.  The hearing 

was held as scheduled, in Tallahassee, Florida. 

 At the final hearing, Petitioner testified on her own 

behalf.  Petitioner's Exhibits 1 and 2 were received into 

evidence.  Respondent presented the testimony of Hope French, 

Divisional Director of Operations for Advance America Cash 

Advance Center, Inc. ("Advance") and Shelia Graham, Center 

Manager for the Tallahassee Advance location at the time of 

Petitioner's interview.  Respondent's Exhibits 1 through 5 were 

received into evidence.  No transcript of the final hearing has 

been filed. 

 At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties agreed to 

file proposed recommended orders within 14 days of the close of 

the hearing.  Both parties filed Proposed Recommended Orders 
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which have been considered in preparation of this Recommended 

Order. 

 All citations are to Florida Statutes (2009) unless 

otherwise indicated. 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

 1.  Petitioner, Venus Harris, is a female, who in January 

2010 sought employment with Respondent. 

 2.  Respondent Advance was founded in 1997 and is 

headquartered in Spartanburg, South Carolina.  Advance is the 

largest payday cash-advance service provider in the United 

States, with approximately 3,000 locations and 7,000 employees 

nationwide. 

 3.  On January 12, 2010, Petitioner filled out and 

submitted an on-line application to Advance.  In her 

application, Petitioner stated that she was available for both 

full-time and part-time employment and was able to work "25-40+" 

hours per week. 

 4.  Soon after the submittal of Petitioner's on-line 

application, two positions for full-time customer service 

representatives with Advance became available in the Tallahassee 

area.  Since Petitioner appeared to possess the necessary 

qualifications, including full-time availability, she was 

invited to interview with Advance on January 26, 2010.  At the 

time the interview was scheduled it is unclear whether 
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Petitioner was advised or aware that only full-time positions 

were available.
1/ 

 5.  On January 26, 2010, Petitioner arrived early for her 

scheduled 3:30 interview at the West Tennessee Street Advance 

location.  On the day of her interview, Ms. Harris was eight and 

a half months pregnant.
2/  

 6.  Ms. Harris was to be interviewed by Hope French, 

Divisional Director of Operations for Advance.
3/
  Ms. French was 

interviewing other candidates that day, and was running behind 

schedule.
4/
  While Petitioner waited for her interview, she spoke 

with Shelia Graham, Center Manager for the Tallahassee Advance 

location.  Ms. Graham explained to Ms. Harris that Advance was 

interested in hiring someone with availability from 8:00 a.m. to 

8:00 p.m.  In response, Petitioner stated that "it was O.K." 

 7.  During their conversation, Petitioner did not inform 

Ms. Graham that she was pregnant, nor was Ms. Graham aware of 

that fact.  According to Ms. Graham, "she was not showing in 

what she was wearing." 

 8.  At approximately 4:30 that afternoon, Petitioner was 

escorted by Ms. French to a room in the back of the Center where 

the interview took place.  Ms. French informed Petitioner that 

Advance was interviewing candidates that day for one or more 

full-time positions, and inquired as to Petitioner's ability to 

work a full-time schedule.  In response, Petitioner stated that 
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she was a full-time student at Lively Technical School, and 

would not be available to work between the hours of 8:00 a.m. 

and 4:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday.  However, she would be 

available to work after 4:00 on those days, and anytime on 

Friday and Saturday.   

 9.  After additional conversation, Ms. Harris stated that 

she could possibly shift her school schedule in order to be 

available to work between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and noon on 

Monday through Thursday. 

 10.  The interview lasted approximately ten minutes and 

concluded with Ms. French telling Petitioner that Advance was 

only looking for candidates with "open availability" between the 

hours of 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday.  

However, Ms. French invited Ms. Harris to reapply after she 

finished school and had full-time availability. 

 11.  As a result of the interviews conducted on January 26, 

2010, Advance hired two full-time employees.  No part-time 

employees were hired. 

 12.  At no point during the interview did Petitioner inform 

Ms. French that she was pregnant, and there is no evidence of 

record to indicate that any Advance employee was aware of that 

fact. 

 13.  Advance has policies that prohibit discrimination on 

the basis of pregnancy.  Advance employees who violate those 
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policies, including management, are subject to discipline, up to 

and including termination. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

 

 14.  The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to and the subject matter of this 

proceeding.  Sections 120.569, 120.57(1), and 760.11, Florida 

Statutes (2010). 

 15.  Pursuant to Section 760.10, Florida Statutes: 

(1)  It is an unlawful employment practice 

for an employer: 

 

(a)  To discharge or to fail or refuse to 

hire any individual, or otherwise to 

discriminate against any individual with 

respect to compensation, terms, conditions, 

or privileges of employment, because of such 

individual's race, color, religion, sex, 

National origin, age, handicap, or marital 

status. 

 

 16.  Florida courts interpret Chapter 760, Florida 

Statutes, in accordance with federal anti-discrimination laws, 

codified under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (Civil 

Rights Act), as amended in 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e, et seq. 

 17.  The Petition for Relief alleges that Respondent 

violated Subsection 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, by refusing 

to hire Petitioner by reason of her pregnancy.  Although 

Subsection 760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, does not specify that 

discrimination on the basis of pregnancy is sex discrimination, 

Congress amended the Civil Rights Act by enacting the Pregnancy 
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Discrimination Act of 1978, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e(k), which 

states that discrimination on the basis of pregnancy is sex 

discrimination. 

 18.  As a result of the foregoing amendments, Subsection 

760.10(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is "pre-empted" by the Civil 

Rights Act "to the extent that Florida's law offers less 

protection to its citizens than does the correspondent federal 

law."  Accordingly, discrimination based upon a woman's 

pregnancy constitutes discrimination based upon sex.  See 

O'Loughlin v. Pinceback, 579 So. 2d 788, 791 (Fla. 1st DCA 

1991). 

 19.  42 U.S.C. Section 2000e(k), provides, in pertinent 

part, the following: 

(k) The terms "because of sex" or "on the 

basis of sex" include, but are not limited 

to, because of or on the basis of pregnancy, 

childbirth, or related medication 

conditions; and women affected by pregnancy, 

childbirth, or related medical conditions 

shall be treated the same for all 

employment-related purposes . . . 

 

 20.  Petitioner has the ultimate burden to prove 

discrimination by direct or indirect evidence.  Texas Department 

of Community Affairs v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 253 (1981).   

Direct evidence is admissible evidence, which if believed, would 

prove the existence of discrimination without any need for 

inference or presumption.  Petitioner offered no such evidence. 
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 21.  Absent direct evidence of discrimination, Petitioner 

must prove discrimination by indirect or circumstantial 

evidence.  To prove discrimination by indirect or circumstantial 

evidence, Petitioner must first establish a prima facie case of 

the following elements: (a) she is a member of a protected 

group; (b) she is qualified to do her job; (c) she was subjected 

to an adverse employment action; and (d) similarly-situated 

employees, who are not members of a protected group, were 

treated more favorably than Petitioner.  See McDonnell Douglas 

Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973). 

 22.  If Petitioner proves her prima facie case, the 

employer then must articulate a legitimate, non-discriminatory 

reason for the challenged employment decision.  Burdine, 450 

U.S. at 254.  The employer is required only to "produce 

admissible evidence, which would allow the trier of fact 

rationally to conclude that the employment decision had not been 

motivated by discriminatory animus."  Burdine, 450 U.S. at 257. 

 23.  If the employer produces evidence of a 

nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse action, the burden 

shifts back to Petitioner to prove that the employer's reason 

was a pretext for discrimination.  St. Mary's Honor Center v. 

Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 503 (1993). 

 24.  Petitioner has failed to prove a prima facie case of 

discrimination.  Here, Petitioner proved that she was pregnant 
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(a protected group), and that an adverse employment action was 

taken against her.  However, she did not establish that she was 

qualified for the full-time position that was available, or that 

she was treated any differently than other similarly qualified 

male or non-pregnant female employees. 

 25.  Even assuming, arguendo, that Petitioner established a 

prima facie case of discrimination, Respondent presented 

persuasive evidence that Petitioner was not selected for the 

available position because her school schedule prohibited her 

from working the required hours. 

 26.  The evidence established that Respondent was only 

hiring full-time employees on the day Petitioner was 

interviewed.  While it is unfortunate that Petitioner may have 

been under the misapprehension that part-time positions were 

available, there was no evidence presented that others with 

availability similar to Petitioner had been hired by Respondent. 

 27.  For the reasons stated in the foregoing paragraphs, 

Respondent met its burden of showing a legitimate, 

nondiscriminatory reason for declining to offer Petitioner 

employment. 

 28.  Petitioner did not present any credible evidence that 

Respondent's reason for the adverse employment action was a 

pretext for discrimination. 
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RECOMMENDATION 

 Based on the foregoing Findings of Facts and Conclusions of 

Law, it is 

 RECOMMENDED that the Florida Commission on Human Relations 

enter a final order dismissing the Petition for Relief. 

 DONE AND ENTERED this 10th day of November, 2010, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

S                                   

W. DAVID WATKINS 

Administrative Law Judge 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

The DeSoto Building 

1230 Apalachee Parkway 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-3060 

(850) 488-9675 

Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 

www.doah.state.fl.us 

 

Filed with the Clerk of the 

Division of Administrative Hearings 

this 10th day of November, 2010. 

 

ENDNOTES 

 
1
/  The confusion as to whether full-time and part-time positions 

were available apparently stems from a glitch with the statewide 

employment software (www.employflorida.com).  According to 

Ms. French, even when Advance informs the employment office that 

it is only recruiting for full-time customer service positions, 

the openings are listed as both full-time and part-time. 
 
2
/  Petitioner's son, Camron, was born on February 20, 2010. 
 
3
/  As Divisional Director of Operations, Ms. French has 

responsibility for budgetary performance, operations, personnel, 
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and compliance with state and federal laws for 16 Advance 

centers. 

 
4
/  According to Ms. French, she interviewed "four or five" 

candidates for full-time positions that day.  No candidates for 

part-time employment were interviewed. 
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NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 

15 days from the date of this Recommended Order.  Any exceptions 

to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 

will issue the Final Order in this case. 

 




